IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

LEON STUART, Individually, and As Wrongful Death Beneficiary and On Behalf of All Other Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of SHIRLEY STUART, DECEASED,

APPELLANT

VERSUS

THE UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER and/or THE UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS & CLINICS No. 2007-CA-00864

APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

William B. Raiford, III (Miss. Bar No.
Merkel & Cocke, P.A.
30 Delta Ave.
P.O. Box 1388
Clarksdale, Mississippi 38614
(662) 627-9641
(On Briefing Only)

John H. Cocke (Miss. Bar No. Merkel & Cocke, P.A. 30 Delta Ave. P.O. Box 1388 Clarksdale, Mississippi 38614 (662) 627-9641 (Counsel Of Record)

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed this action alleging medical malpractice on the part of physicians employed by The University of Mississippi Medical Center (UMMC). In his complaint, Plaintiff Leon Stuart, surviving husband of Shirley Stuart, alleges that on December 10, 2002, Shirley Stuart was admitted to through the emergency room of UMMC with complaints of shortness of breath. Plaintiff alleges that the Defendant's employees were negligent in failing to rule out pulmonary embolism, and that Shirley Stuart died from a pulmonary embolism approximately 27 hours after she was admitted to UMMC.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

UMMC is an entity of the State of Mississippi, and as such, it is undisputed UMMC is subject to the provisions of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1 et. seq. (the MTCA). Pursuant to the provisions of MTCA, a prerequisite to the filing of suit against a governmental entity is the requirement that written notice be served on the governmental entity at least 90 days prior to filing suit. *See* Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11.

In this case Plaintiff served a notice of claim on the Chief Executive Officer of UMMC on December 4, 2003, within one year of the alleged negligent conduct - i.e., within the statute of limitations. (R. 9-10). This action was filed against UMMC on January 14, 2004, 41 days (not the prescribed 90 days) after service of Plaintiff's Notice of Claim. (R. 11). UMMC was served with process on January 20, 2004. After being served with process, UMMC did not make a motion to dismiss or to stay the proceedings. Instead, UMMC promptly filed its Answer and Defenses on February 13, 2004. (R. 14-18). UMMC also simultaneously served its Notice of Service of First Interrogatories and Requests for Production on February 12, 2004. The parties

proceeded to prepare the case for trial, including written discovery, depositions and disclosure of experts.

UMMC's Answer, while making a boiler plate assertion that it reserved rights pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1 et. seq., "including bar of limitations, trial by judge without jury, limitation of liability and exclusion of punitive damages", did *not* assert as an affirmative defense that Plaintiff had not complied with the notice provisions of the MTCA, or otherwise object in any manner to the proceeding as being premature. (R. 14-18).

On April 6, 2006, over 2 years after Plaintiff filed this action, the Mississippi Supreme Court decided *University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Easterling*, 928 So.2d 815 (Miss. April 6, 2006). In *Easterling*, the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed dismissal of the plaintiff's complaint for failing to strictly comply with the 90 day notice provision of Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11. *Easterling* asserts in 2004 "this Court announced in *Davis [v. Hoss*, 869 So.2d [397] (Miss. 2004)] it was no longer the defendant's duty to request a stay or face a waiver or the ninety days when the plaintiff failed to wait the statutory notice period." *Easterling*, 928 So.2d at 818. With deference to the court, *Davis* did not say this, and even if it did *Davis* was decided after this action was filed, making it impossible to predict when this action was filed..

On June 14, 2006, UMMC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 3 - 7). The sole basis of the Defendant's motion, raised for the first time some 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ years after Plaintiff filed this action, was Plaintiff's failure to strictly comply with §11-46-11 by waiting only 41 days prior to filing suit.¹ *Id.* In it's motion, UMMC "respectfully requests this honorable Court to grant its

¹ Defendant did not contend that notice was not given and/or that the notice was inadequate. Defendant belatedly complained, only, that Plaintiff did not wait the requisite 90 days.

Motion for Summary Judgment for failure of the notice of claim provision of the MTCA, and A Card in the second se respectfully requests that the Court dismiss UMMC from this action, with prejudice". (R. 6) (emphasis added). Plaintiff responded to Defendant's motion, asserting Defendant had waived its objection, or in the alternative, that *Easterling* should not be applied retroactively.

The trial court heard UMMC's motion on September 15, 2006. On September 26, 2006.

the trial court rendered it's Memorandum Opinion and Order granting Defendant's Motion for

Summary Judgment. (R. 41). In it's Memorandum Opinion and Order, the trial court stated:

Plaintiffs' decent (sic), Shirley Stuart, was admitted to the emergency room of the Defendant, University of Mississippi Medical Center (hereinafter "UMMC"), on December 10, 2002 complaining of shortness of breath. Plaintiff alleges in this lawsuit that UMMC's employees were negligent in failing to rule out pulmonary embolism, which proximately caused Ms. (sic) Stuart's death twenty-seven (27) hours of (sic) her admittance.

Because UMMC is a State entity, Plaintiff was required by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act (hereinafter "MTCA"), more specifically, Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11(1), to send UMMC written notice of the claim at least ninety (90) days before filing suit. The parties agree that this was not done, but disagree on the appropriate remedy. UMMC seeks summary judgment, while Plaintiff contends that UMMC's failure to request a stay in the proceedings constitutes a waiver of the right to object to the Plaintiff's non-compliance with the statutory waiting period.

Indeed, if the purported purpose of that waiting period is to afford UMMC ninety (90) days within which to investigate an attempt to reach an amicable resolution of the claim, then logically speaking the alternative of the stay, as sought by the Plaintiff, would have some validity

Unfortunately, for the Plaintiff, the logic once afforded by the Mississippi Supreme Court to a stay, under circumstances such as today before the Court, has been abandoned by that higher authority. The erosion of the cases cited by the Plaintiff began in 2004 with Wright v. Quesnel [footnote omitted] wherein the Mississippi Supreme Court held that "allowing a plaintiff to file suit before ninety days had passed since noticing the claim is tantamount to reading out the notice provisions of the MTCA." For the plaintiff's failure to wait ninety days before filing suit, the Supreme Court affirmed summary judgment granted by the trial

court in favor of the defendants. [footnote omitted]. Interestingly, there was no discussion of a stay or any mention of, much less any attempt to distinguish, the host of previous decisions preferring a stay over dismissal.

The coup de grace came earlier this year in Easterling v. Univ. Of Miss. Med. Ctr. [footnote omitted]:

In order to make it perfectly clear to all that strict compliance is required, as stated in *Davis* and *Wright* [footnote 5]², we hereby overrule *Tomlinson* and its progeny, including *Booneville*, *Givens*, *City of Wiggins*, *Mississippi School for the Blind*, and *Clay County....* In other words, the rule set forth in *Tomlinson*, that the responsibility falls on the defendant to request a stay of the lawsuit when a plaintiff is not in compliance with the 90-day notice requirement is abrogated.

Slip Op at 1-3 (R. 41-43).

- - -

Finding that Easterling's rule was mandatory, the Court found that "UMMC's Motion for

Summary Judgement be, and the same is hereby, granted." (R. 43). As a result, Plaintiff's claim

stands as dismissed with prejudice. Plaintiff timely filed this appeal October 4, 2006. (R. 53).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Shirley Stuart died December 11, 2002. Proper notice was given December 4, 2003,

within the applicable statute of limitations. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11, Plaintiff

²At footnote 5 to the trial court's opinion, the trial court stated as follows:

As the trial court correctly observed, *Davis* and *Wright* (both decided after this , action was filed) simply do not say what the *Easterling* court claims they state.

[&]quot;Actually what the court said in *Davis v. Hoss*, 869 So.2d 397, 400 (Miss. 2004) was this: "under the MTCA we require *substantial* compliance with regard to the filing of a notice of claim in the institution of a suit.... However, "substantial compliance is not the same as, nor a substitute, for, non-compliance"." [emphasis added] Wright says nothing different, yet the Easterling court proclaims that these cases require strict compliance."

had at least 180 days from the date of service of notice ³ to institute his claims against UMMC. Had UMMC timely objected to the proceedings as being premature, Plaintiff could have dismissed his claim and re-filed them after the applicable 90 day period. However, UMMC did not move to dismiss, or move for a stay, or object in any way whatsoever, and instead proceeded with the case and discovery for 2 ½ years.

By the holdings of at least six Supreme court decisions prior to the filing of Plaintiff's complaint, Defendant's sole remedy was to seek a stay of the proceedings. If a defendant did not seek such a stay, any objection *was waived*. See City of Pascagoula v. Tomlinson, 741 So.2d 224 (Miss. 1999)("It does not necessarily follow, however, that the proper remedy for failure to comply with the applicable waiting period should be the dismissal of the lawsuit. This court concludes that the dismissal of a lawsuit based on a failure to comply with the waiting period is a disproportionate remedy and contrary to the purpose of the legislature in enacting the tort claims act....We conclude that the better approach is, instead, for a governmental entity to request that the trial court issue an order staying the lawsuit until such time as the entity has been given the benefit of the applicable waiting period....In cases in which no stay is requested, however, the issue should be properly considered to have been waived.); Jackson v. City of Booneville, 738 So. 2d 1241 (Miss. 1999); Leflore County v. Givens, 754 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2000); Jones v. The Mississippi School For Blind, 758 So.2d 428 (Miss. 2000); Jackson v. The City of Wiggins, 760 So.2d 694 (Miss. 2000); Williams v. Clay County, 861 So.2d (Miss. 2003)(same).

Further, affirmative defenses which are not timely raised pursuant to Miss. R. P. 8(c) are waived. See, e.g., Conerly v. State, 607 So.2d 1103 (Miss. 1992) (statute of limitations is an

³ Plus the 7 days remaining prior to the running of the statute of limitations.

affirmative defense and is waived if not plead). Further, even if plead, Defendant's failure to timely pursue "an affirmative defense or other affirmative matter or right which would serve to terminate or stay the litigation, coupled with active participation in the litigation will ordinarily serve as a waiver [of the defense]". *Whitten v. Whitten*, ____ So.2d ____ (No. 2005-CA-02031-COA) (Miss. App. May 22, 2007) citing *MS Credit Center v. Horton*, 926 So.2d 107 (Miss. 2006).

Plaintiff had a justifiable right to rely on prior pronouncements of this Court. It would have been impossible to predict this Court (in *Easterling*) would summarily abandon the logic and holdings of *Tomlinson* and subsequent decisions at the time this action was filed. *Davis* and *Wright*, which were relied upon as the basis of the *Easterling* decision, were both decided *after* this action was filed.

Once a defense is waived, it is waived. In order to dismiss this action, UMMC must be found to have "unwaived" its waiver, to Plaintiff's detriment.

It is patently unfair to penalize a litigant who rightfully relies on decisions of this Court. Under the three-part test announced by this Court in *Presley v. The Mississippi State Highway Commission*, 608 So.2d 1288 (Miss. 1992), *Easterling* should not have been applied retroactively.

Finally, dismissal *with prejudice* is an unduly harsh result, and was error. *Nelson v. Baptist Memorial Hospital North Mississippi, Inc.*, ____ So.2d ____ (No. 2005 - CA02058-COA) (Miss. App. May 8, 2007).

6

ARGUMENT

I. Summary Judgment Should Not Have Been Granted

A. <u>Pursuant to pronouncements of the Mississippi Supreme</u> <u>Court, Defendant waived any objection it may have had as to</u> <u>Plaintiff's failure to comply with the waiting period.</u>

In City of Pascagoula v. Tomlinson, 741 So.2d 224 (Miss. 1999), the Plaintiff Tomlinson

filed suit 15 days after filing his notice of claim. The City of Pascagoula moved to dismiss the

plaintiff's claim, which the trial court denied. The City appealed. On appeal, the Mississippi

Supreme Court concluded:

It does not necessarily follow, however, that the proper remedy for failure to comply with the applicable waiting period should be the dismissal of the lawsuit. *This court concludes that the dismissal of a lawsuit based on a failure to comply with the waiting period is a disproportionate remedy and contrary to the purpose of the legislature in enacting the tort claims act.*

We conclude that the better approach is, instead, for a governmental entity to request that the trial court issue an order staying the lawsuit until such time as the entity has been given the benefit of the applicable waiting period. The trial courts of this state have the inherent authority to grant such stays and we direct that such orders be granted as necessary ensure that a governmental entity is given the benefit of the waiting period. In the event that the trial court finds that the requirements of the waiting period have been violated, the governmental entity should be permitted to recover any expenses (including court costs and attorney's fees) which it incurs in obtaining a stay of proceedings.... In cases in which no stay is requested, however, the issue should be properly considered to have been waived.

Tomlinson, 741 So.2d at 228, 229.

In Jackson v. City of Booneville, 738 So. 2d 1241 (Miss. 1999) the court was again faced

with the identical issue. In addressing this issue the Supreme Court held:

We note that every court has the discretionary power to stay proceedings to ensure that justice is done or to provide for the efficient and economic use of judicial resources.... The grounds for granting a stay vary with the facts of each case, but one recognized ground is to stay proceedings to allow the plaintiff to exhaust his administrative remedies.... The same can be said here. The City defendants did not request a stay, and we accordingly find that this issue has been waived.

Jackson, 738 So.2d at 1246.

The Court was again faced with this identical issue in Leflore County v. Givens, 754

So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2000). Again the Mississippi Supreme Court held:

This court is not required to address whether the plaintiff's notice to the county was enough to constitute substantial compliance in this case because the county failed to request a stay in the proceedings to allow the time period referred to in Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11 to expire. Because the county never requested a stay in the litigation to attempt to avail themselves of the benefit of this waiting period, *it has waived this issue and is not subject to appeal*.

Givens, 754 So.2d at 1232.

The Mississippi Supreme Court again faced the identical issue in Jones v. The Mississippi

School For Blind, 758 So.2d 428 (Miss. 2000). Again the Supreme Court held:

Pursuant to *Tomlinson*, the school's sole remedy for Jones' failure to comply the ninety waiting period was to file a motion to stay the lawsuit. The Circuit Judge accordingly erred in dismissing the present lawsuit based on Jones' failure to comply strictly with the 90 - day waiting period.

Jones, 758 So.2d at 429.

The Supreme Court again addressed the issue in Jackson v. The City of Wiggins, 760

So.2d 694 (Miss. 2000). Again, the Supreme Court held:

The dismissal of a lawsuit based on the failure to comply with the waiting period is a disproportionate remedy in contrary to the purpose of the legislature in enacting in the Tort Claims Act.... We conclude that the better approach is, instead, for a governmental entity to request that the trial court issue an order staying the lawsuit until such time as the entity has been given the benefit of the applicable waiting period. The trial courts of this state have the inherent authority to grant such stays and we direct that such orders be granted as necessary to ensure that a governmental entity has given the benefit of the waiting period.... In cases in which no stay is requested, however, the issue should be properly considered to have been waived.

Jackson, 760 So.2d at 696.

The Mississippi Supreme Court again addressed the issue in *Williams v. Clay County*, 861 So.2d (Miss. 2003). The Court again held:

In the case at bar, Clay County did not request a stay after Williams gave her second notice of claim on February 13, 2001. *Therefore it waived its right to a 90 day waiting period.*

Williams, 861 So.2d at ¶ 101.

In the present case, Plaintiff acknowledges that this lawsuit was filed 41 days after giving proper notice. Defendant did not request a stay, and pursuant to the judicial pronouncements of the Mississippi Supreme Court as set forth above, Defendant waived any defense based on Plaintiff's failure to strictly comply with the 90 day waiting period.

B. Pursuant To Miss. R. Civ. P. 8(c) Defendant Waived Any Objection.

Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 8(c):

In pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively ... any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense....

Pursuant to Rule 8(c), any claim that Plaintiff failed to comply with the provisions of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act would be an affirmative defense which would be required to specifically raised and plead as an affirmative defense. Defendant made no specific assertion in its answer that Plaintiff failed to comply with the provisions of the notice of requirements of Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11. Affirmative defenses which a party does not specifically raise and plead are waived. *See, e.g., Conerly v. State*, 607 So.2d 1103 (Miss. 1992) (statute of limitations is an affirmative defense and is waived if not plead).

Alternatively, even if Defendant's boiler plate assertion that it "reserved rights pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1 et . seq." is read to properly raise the affirmative of failure to comply with the notice provisions of Miss. Code Ann. \$11-46-11, UMMC waived that defense by failing to pursue that defense and actively participating in the litigation process for 2 $\frac{1}{2}$ years before pursuing the defense.

In *Whitten v. Whitten* _____ So.2d ____ (2005-CA-02031-COA) (Miss. App. May 22, 2007), Thoms Whitten, Jr. (Whitten, Jr.) filed a complaint against his father, Thomas Whitten, Sr. (Whitten, Sr.), alleging his father had negligently discharged a shotgun, severely injuring him. Whitten, Jr.'s complaint was not served within 120 days as required by Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(h). After service of process was had, Whitten, Sr. filed an answer which included an affirmative defense of insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process. However, Whitten, Sr. Actively participated in the litigation and waited over two years, after the statute of limitations had run, before moving to dismiss because service of process was not completed within 120 days. The trial court granted Whitten, Sr.'s motion. Whitten, Jr. appealed, and the Mississippi Court of Appeals reversed. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals stated:

II. WHETHER WHITTEN, SR.'S PARTICIPATION IN THE LITIGATION FOR APPROXIMATELY TWO YEARS WAIVED THE DEFENSES OF INSUFFICIENCY OF PROCESS AND INSUFFICIENCY OF SERVICE OF PROCESS.

¶19. Alternatively, Whitten, Jr. asserts that Whitten, Sr. waived the defenses of insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process by neglecting to pursue those defenses for two years after asserting them in his answer and by participating in the litigation during that time. Indeed, Whitten, Sr. filed his answer on October 21, 2002, asserting, among other defenses, the defenses of insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process. For the next two years, Whitten, Sr. participated in discovery. The parties exchanged written discovery requests and written discovery responses, discussed settlement, and Whitten, Sr. noticed Whitten, Jr.'s deposition. Then, on October 26, 2004, after the expiration of the statute of limitations, Whitten, Sr., filed the motion to dismiss asserting untimely service of process.

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