# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00864

LEON STUART, Individually, and as Wrongful Death Beneficiary and on Behalf of All Other Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of SHIRLEY STUART, DECEASED

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

THE UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER and/or THE UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS & CLINICS

**APPELLEES** 

#### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

Senith C. Tipton (MSB No. Melanie H. Morano (MSB No. Wilkins, Stephens & Tipton, P.A. One LeFleur's Square, Suite 108 4735 Old Canton Road [39211] P. O. Box 13429
Jackson, MS 39236-3429
Telephone: (601) 366-4343

Telephone: (601) 366-4343 Facsimile: (601) 981-7608

# CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS REQUIRED BY RULE 28

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

"By enactment of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, the legislature elected to waive sovereign immunity. However, this waiver was qualified by specifying certain procedural requirements which must be met before an action was filed." Vortice v. Fordice, 711 So. 2d 894, 896 (Miss. 1998). "The legislature has an interest in conserving state funds" and "notice provisions encourage settlement of claims prior to entering a litigation, therefore conserving valuable governmental resources." Vortice at 896. "Although the Tort Claims Act waived sovereign immunity to a certain extent, it is still concerned with conserving government funds and protecting the public health and welfare at the earliest possible moment." Vortice at 896. A claimant has up to one year to investigate and develop her case during which time the defendant remains ignorant of a possible claim against it. Williams v. Clay County, 861 So. 2d 953, 975 (Miss. 2003). Plaintiff's interpretation fails to further the legislature's intent that a governmental entity also have an opportunity to investigate a claim against it prior to facing litigation and have the opportunity to either contest the claim at trial or settle the claim prior to facing a lawsuit, thereby avoiding the time and expense to the state of defending unnecessary litigation. City of Pascagoula v. Tomlinson, 741 So. 2d 224, 228 ¶ 10 (Miss. 1999).

The allegedly negligent conduct in this action took place at the latest on December 11, 2002. There is no dispute that the version of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 11-46-11 as

amended in 1999 applies to this action. After a timely notice of claim was filed, plaintiff's lawsuit was filed prematurely 41 days later on January 14, 2004, in defiance of the requisite period of at least 90 days set aside to allow investigation by the governmental entity.

Plaintiff insists that case law in the line of *City of Pascagoula v. Tomlinson*, 741 So. 2d 224 (Miss. 1999) (where the plaintiff stepped into an uncovered pipe hole on June 2, 1995) (overturned by *Easterling* on the waiting period issue), interpreting the pre-1999 amendment statute is controlling.<sup>2</sup> In *Tomlinson* the Court acknowledged that "[a] statute of limitations serves to control the period in which a lawsuit may be *filed*, and the fact that the Legislature chose to extend the statute of limitations based on the requirements of subsection (1) indicates that the Legislature intended for plaintiffs to wait ninety days from the providing of notice to file any lawsuit." *Tomlinson* at 228. The court then dealt with the inequities inherent in the pre-amendment version of § 11-46-11 where the statute of limitations was tolled for 95 days, but 90 of those days were set aside for the defendant to investigate and possibly settle the claim against it before facing a lawsuit, thereby severely limiting the time period a plaintiff had to file suit if the claim were not resolved. In compromise, the court allowed the plaintiff to encroach upon the 90 days granted the defendant and allowed the

Other pre-amendment cases relied upon by the plaintiff and overturned by *Easterling* were *Jackson v. City of Booneville*, 738 So. 2d 1241 (Miss. 1999) (slip and fall which took place on November 26, 1996); *Leflore County v. Givins*, 754 So. 2d 1223 (Miss. 2000) (motor vehicle accident which took place on August 27, 1994); *Jones v. Mississippi School for the Blind*, 758 So. 2d 428 (Miss. 2000) (wheelchair accident which took place on January 16, 1997); *Jackson v. City of Wiggins*, 760 So. 2d 694 (Miss. 2000) (injury from falling into a hole which took place on December 25, 1996).

defendant the option of requesting a stay in the proceedings during litigation to belatedly complete the 90 day waiting period. *Tomlinson* at 227-229; *Easterling* at ¶ 20. Plaintiff ignores that the Supreme Court in *Tomlinson* specifically qualified its ruling as interpretive of the pre-amendment statute in footnote 1, where it clarified that "the Legislature has recently amended § 11-46-11, 1999 (Miss. Laws Chapter 469, H. B. 778) but these amendments, which are effective from and after passage, are not applicable herein. The present case arose prior to the enactment of the amendments." *Tomlinson* at 228, FN1.

Plaintiff also mistakenly relied upon *Williams v. Clay County*, 861 So. 2d 953 (Miss. 2003) (R.E. 9, p. 9.) The plaintiff in *Williams* fell down a flight of stairs at the Clay County Courthouse on November 1, 1999; thus the revised version of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 11-46-11 applied. The Court in *Williams* attempted to interpret the 1999 changes in the statute of limitations under §11-46-11, but did not address the waiting period issue other than to note that under the amended statute a plaintiff's time period for filing suit falls after the 95/120 day tolling period under § 11-46-11(3). *Williams* at 958-960,¶¶ 18-24. The only mention of a stay in *Williams* was a brief comment in the lengthy dissent and is insufficient as postamendment authority on the waiting period issue. *Williams* at 977 ¶101.

The Court in several cases before *Easterling* explained the post-amendment § 11-46-11(1), stating that "a claimant must give notice to the governmental entity ninety days prior to bringing suit." *Black v. Ansah*, 876 So. 2d 395, ¶ 22 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). The Court in *Davis v. Hoss*, 869 So. 2d 397, ¶ 13 (Miss. 2004) found the plaintiff's complaint, filed on the same day as his notice of claim, was not substantially compliant with the requirements

of the MTCA. Interpreting § 11-46-11(1), the Court explained that "a plaintiff must provide notice of a claim to the chief executive officer of a state institution ninety days prior to bringing a civil suit against the state entity" and "[s]ince UMMC is protected by the MTCA, Davis had to meet the requirements of § 11-46-11." Davis at ¶¶ 12, 17. Similarly, in Wright v. Quesnel, 876 So. 2d 362, ¶ 9 (Miss. 2004), the plaintiff filed her complaint eleven days after filing her notice of claim. The Court found the plaintiff failed to wait "the statutorily-prescribed ninety-day period before filing suit" and dismissal was proper. Wright at ¶ 9.

Correspondingly, another line of cases attempted to interpret the 1999 revisions of §11-46-11(3). The pre-1999 version differs from the post-1999 version on "when and for how long the one-year statute of limitations is tolled when a plaintiff gives a governmental entity notice of a pending claim prior to filing an action based on that claim." *Marshall v. Warren County Board of Supervisors*, 831 So. 2d 1211, 1212 ¶¶ 5-9 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002.) "On March 25, 1999, our Legislature extended the period of time a notice of claim tolled the statute of limitations for actions brought against governmental entities under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act., *Miss. Code* Ann. § 11-46-1 through 23 (Supp. 2001)." *Roberts v. New Albany Separate School District*, 813 So. 2d 729, 731-732, ¶¶ 5-7 (Miss. 2002).

While the law interpreting the counting method for the statute of limitations under the revised statute has evolved, all authority is in agreement that under the amended statute a claimant must wait until after the tolling period to file his lawsuit under the revised statute. "After the 120-day period, the claimant has 90 days to bring suit. Should the government

respond within the 120-day period, the claimant has 90 days to bring suit from the date of response." Williams v. Clay County, 861 So. 2d 953, ¶24, FN5 (Miss. 2003). This means that the statute might better be understood as providing a one year period within which to file a notice of claim. Once that is filed, a state agency has 95 days and other governmental bodies 120 days to respond to the claim. Then beginning with the end of those time periods or with an earlier denial, the claimant has 90 days to file suit." Burge v. Richton Municipal Separate School District, 797 So. 2d 1062, ¶26 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). "The one year limitations period is still said to be "tolled", but the statute then provides that the 90 day period within which to file suit begins at the end of the tolling period." Burge at ¶25.

The Supreme Court in  $Page\ v$ . University of Southern Mississippi, 878 So. 2d 1003 (Miss. 2004) clarified the procedure for counting of the statute of limitations, but continued to assert that after the expiration of the 95 or 120 day "tolling" period (unless the entity denies the claim earlier), "the claimant is then left with the remaining days in the original one-year limitations period not used at the time notice was received plus the additional 90 days in which to file suit." Page at 1007 ¶ 12. Nothing in Page suggests that a plaintiff can file suit during the "tolling" period set aside for the defendant governmental entity to investigate the claim.

In the action herein, plaintiff interprets *Miss*. *Code Ann*. § 11-46-11 (as amended in 1999), as offering an optional but not required 90 or 95 day investigational period. Ignoring the clear statutory language and case law, he asserts that "pursuant to *Miss*. *Code Ann*. § 11-46-11, Plaintiff had at least 180 days from the date of service of notice to institute his claims

against UMMC." (R.E. 9, pp. 5, 17.) Plaintiff thus believes that he may file his lawsuit at his pleasure any time during the 90-day period (under § 11-46-11(1)) or the 95 day period (under § 11-46-11(3)) set aside by the legislature for defendant's investigation and possible resolution of the claim, as well as within the 90 days set aside thereafter specifically for the filing of plaintiff's lawsuit if his claim has not been resolved. Plaintiff mistakenly holds to the overruled remedy that a governmental entity's only recourse for his blatant violation of the mandated investigational period, a pre-requisite to filing suit against a governmental entity, is to request an ineffectual stay after his lawsuit is filed, a remedy no longer logical nor good law.

Although the Legislature and Supreme Court have not yet clarified whether the period during which no suit can be filed under the revised statute is 90 or 95 days for a state agency, the 1999 statutory revisions, at a minimum, strengthened the legislative intent that a specific investigational period of at least 90 days is a mandatory prerequisite before a suit against a governmental entity can be filed. Plaintiff could have read and complied with the unambiguous language of the revised statute that a specific period of at least 90 days is set aside "during which time no lawsuit may be maintained by the claimant unless the claimant has received a notice of denial of claim." Plaintiff also had ample notice of the Court's interpretation of the 1999 amended statute in case law, and knew or should have known that after the filing of a notice of claim a claimant cannot file his lawsuit for a period of at least 90 days. Pursuant to the amended statutory language and applicable post-amendment case

law a stay is not a necessary nor appropriate remedy and dismissal for failure to comply with this prerequisite to filing suit is appropriate.

B. Whether UMMC waived any objection to plaintiff's failure to wait 90 days after giving notice prior to filing suit by failing to specifically assert and pursue the defense pursuant to *Miss. R. Civ. P.* 8(c)?

Pursuant to *Miss. R. Civ. P.* 8(c), defendant's affirmative defenses under *Miss. Code Ann.* 11-46-1 et seq. (MTCA) must be set forth in defendant's answer. However, plaintiff's assertion that the affirmative defenses under the MTCA must be "specifically raised" is mistaken. Although *Miss. R. Civ. P.*, Rule 9, requires specificity in asserting fraud or mistake, it is sufficient to give simple notice of the affirmative defenses offered under Rule 8. (R.E. 9, p. 9) "The purpose of Rule 8 is to give notice, not to state facts and narrow the issues as was the purpose of pleadings in prior Mississippi practice." *Miss. R. Civ. P.* 8 comment. "Indeed, notice is the underlying purpose of Rule 8." *Pass Termite and Pest Control, Inc. v. Walker*, 904 So. 2d 1030, ¶ 17, FN 5 (Miss. 2004.)

Plaintiff mistakenly asserts that defendant should have specifically asserted that plaintiff failed to comply with the notice requirements. (R.E. 8, pp. 9, 12.) Contrary to plaintiff's assertion, his timely filed notice of claim is not at issue in defendant's argument.

The second defense set forth in UMMC's answer and defenses states "UMMC reserves all rights and defenses accorded to it pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-1 et seq., including but not limited to bar of limitations, trial by judge without jury, limitation of liability and exclusion of punitive damages." This affirmative defense is more than sufficient to put the plaintiff on notice of a potential defense under the MTCA, and specifically under

Jh770

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11 which addresses the "bar of limitations" including the time limitations therein regarding the investigational period and the filing of plaintiff's complaint.

As defendant's answer put plaintiff on proper notice of a potential defense under the MTCA, and in particular as to the time limitations of filing suit, the affirmative defense was not waived.

Plaintiff also asserts that UMMC waived the defense regarding the plaintiff's failure to comply with the waiting period by actively participating in the litigation process. (R.E. 9, pp. 9-12.) Plaintiff misleadingly asserts that UMMC "actively participated in litigation, including interrogatories, depositions, disclosure of experts, a scheduling order and even a trial setting." (RE. 9, p. 12.) In reality, plaintiff's case lay quiet during much of the approximately two and a half years following the filing of his complaint, and defendant should not be penalized for plaintiff's delay in prosecuting his case. UMMC participated in written discovery and discovery related issues, but contrary to plaintiff's assertion, the only expert disclosed in this case was disclosed by the plaintiff, not UMMC. The single deposition taken in this case was noticed and led by the plaintiff. Defendant's motion for summary judgment and notice of hearing were filed approximately one and half months before the agreed scheduling order setting a trial date was entered; therefore, the scheduling order and trial setting are immaterial to this issue. See Mississippi Credit Center v. Horton, 926 So. 2d 167, 181 ftn 9 (Miss. 2006).

Plaintiff relies upon several cases, the facts of which are distinguishable from this action. In Whitten v. Whitten, 956 So. 2d 1093 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), the defendant

Whitten, Sr., engaged in written discovery and in settlement negotiations and noticed the deposition of Whitten, Jr., prior to filing his motion for dismissal on the basis of failure of service of process. Whitten at ¶ 19, 22. Similarly, in East Mississippi State Hospital v. Adams, 947 So. 2d 887 (Miss. 2007), defendants "participated in substantial discovery in the form of interrogatories, production requests, depositions, designation of experts, scheduling order, and trial date order" prior to filing their similar motion for dismissal for failure of service of process. Adams at ¶ 8. Under the individual facts of these two cases, the Supreme Court found defendants had waived their right to pursue their defense of failure of service of process for failing to comply with the "spirit" of Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(h), which states that the defenses of "improper venue, insufficiency of process, or insufficiency of service of process" can be waived if omitted from defendant's answer and defenses or responsive pleading. Adams at ¶11.

Plaintiff further relied on *Mississippi Credit Center v. Horton*, 926 So. 2d 167 (Miss. 2006), in which the defendants asserted their right to compel arbitration in their respective answers to Plaintiff's complaint, but then proceeded to substantially engage in the litigation process by consenting to a scheduling order, engaging in written discovery, and conducting plaintiff's deposition. *Horton* at ¶41. In *Horton*, the defendant knew or should have known of the possibility of waiver of their right to arbitration by participating in litigation from previous case law. *Mississippi Credit Center* at 179-180, ¶¶ 30-40. Under the facts in *Horton* and relying on previous case law, the Court found that the defendants had waived their right to compel arbitration.

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